RECEIVED

12-05-2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WISCONSINOF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Appellate Case No.

2016AP001144-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

Michel L. Wortman

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Appeal From The Judgment of Conviction And Denial of Post
Conviction Motion To Vacate Sentence
Honorable Dale L. English
Fond du Lac County Cuircuit Court
Case No. 12-CF-90

SCHAEFER LAW FIRM, S.C. By: Attorney Linda J. Schaefer State Bar No. 1062975

242 Michigan Street, Suite 1 Sturgeon Bay, Wisconsin 54235 (920) 746-3180 linda.schaefer@gmail.com Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR WHEN IT DENIED WORTMAN'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE OBTAINED AFTER HE WAS ARRESTED ILLEGALLY?
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR WHEN IT IMPOSED A FINE OF \$1,524.00 ON WORTMAN, BASED ON WIS. STATS. \$346.65(2)(am) AND \$346.65(2)(am)6?

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The issues presented here are questions of application of existing case law, and therefore publication may not be appropriate. *Wis. Stat.* §809.23(1)(a)1 and 2.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Wortman argues that, although the trial court suppressed some of the statements he made to Deputy Pfeiffer, at the time of the incident, all of his statements should have been suppressed because he was not free to

leave, thus effectively in custody, from the beginning of the contact between Wortman and Deputy Pfeiffer

Wortman also argues that *Wis. Stat.* §346.65(2)(am), the statute under which he was sentenced, mandates a sentence of a civil forfeiture between \$150 and \$300 for Operating While Intoxicated (OWI) unless exceptions for the second through sixth violations apply, or if there are minor passengers in the vehicle at the time of the violation. The exceptions do not include OWI convictions above the sixth. Thus, he argues, the forfeiture imposed on him was incorrect.

Wortman asks this appellate court to vacate his conviction and allow him to withdraw his plea because of the trial court's failure to suppress his statements made while he was in custody but before Miranda warnings were given. In the alternative, if his conviction is not vacated, Wortman asks that the fine imposed at sentencing be vacated.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND STATEMENT OF FACTS

At approximately 8:00 pm on Tuesday, February 14, 2012, in the Town of Ripon, Fond du Lac County, Wisconsin, Fond Du Lac Sheriff's Deputy Pfeiffer responded to a call regarding a pickup truck in a ditch on County KK in Fond du Lac County. (R. 72:4). Shortly after arriving at the scene, Deputy Pfeiffer noticed a man walking away from the vehicle on the shoulder of the road, approximately 100 yards away. (R. 72:6). Deputy Pfeiffer pulled up in front of the man, such that he would have had to change direction to continue walking. (R. 72:15).

The deputy identified the man as Michel Wortman by his Wisconsin picture driver's license. (R. 72:6). Deputy Pfeiffer asked Wortman if he was involved with the vehicle in the ditch, and Wortman responded that he had been the driver and only occupant. (R. 72:7). Pfeiffer asked how the accident had happened, and Wortman responded that he had been looking for a particular highway and had missed the turn, so he turned around and headed back. (R. 72:7-8).

Wortman also indicated to the deputy that he was tired from being up all day and had fallen asleep and had run into the ditch. (R. 72:8).

Deputy Pfeiffer testified that he could smell alcohol on Wortman's breath during this conversation. (R. 72:8). In response to the deputy's question regarding alcohol consumption, Wortman indicated that he had had a king can of beer from the Kwik Trip. (R. 72:8).

After this conversation, the deputy told Wortman to jump in the car so they could go back to the accident scene. (R. 72:15). The front seat of the squad car was full of equipment, so Deputy Pfeiffer had Wortman sit in the back seat. (R. 72:15). Because of the automatic locks on the doors, Wortman was not able to leave the vehicle, nor did he make any attempt to leave. (R. 72:16). Deputy Pfeiffer testified that he did not recall any conversation with Wortman before they got to the accident scene, and that he did not Mirandize Wortman at any point. (72:16). In addition, at this point, Deputy Pfeiffer did not tell him either that he was under arrest or that he was not under arrest. (R. 72:21). After Wortman

and Deputy Pfeiffer returned to the accident scene, Wortman exited the squad car and the conversation continued. (R. 72:23). Wortman was not handcuffed or restrained. (R.72:23).

After returning to the accident scene, Deputy Pfeiffer accessed Wortman's driving record using the information on Wortman's driver's license and became aware Wortman's permitted blood alcohol limit was .02. (R. 72:9). Approximately ten to fifteen minutes or perhaps as much as a half hour after returning to the accident scene, Deputy Pfeiffer had Wortman perform several field sobriety tests. (72:20). Deputy Pfeiffer contacted probation and parole after learning that Wortman was on extended supervision. (R. At the request of probation and parole, Deputy 72:17). Pfeiffer performed a preliminary breath test, which showed a result of .07. (R. 72:10). At this point, Deputy Pfeiffer placed Wortman under arrest and transported him to the hospital for a blood draw. (R. 72:10). 1

¹ Wortman asserts that, having taken Wortman's driver's license at the scene of the incident, Deputy Pfeiffer only returned Wortman's

Deputy Pfeiffer testified that after the arrest Wortman told him he had actually gotten the beer at the Kwik Trip after the accident and consumed it at that time. (R. 72:11). In response, Deputy Pfeiffer informed Wortman that he would pull the video from the Kwik Trip to verify Wortman's statement. (R. 72:12). Deputy Pfeiffer testified that Wortman apologized for lying to him. (R. 72:12). Deputy Pfeiffer testified that Wortman then apologized for lying to him but also testified that Wortman's statement was not a response to questioning. (72:13).

Charges

As a result of this incident, Wortman was charged in Fond du Lac County Case Number 12CF90 with one count of Operating While Intoxicated, 9th Offense, contrary to section 346.63(1)(a), 939.50(3)(g), 346.65(2)(am)6, 343.31 Wis. Stats.; one count of Operating with Prohibited Alcohol Concentration, 9th Offense, contrary to section 346.63(1)(b), 939.50(3)(g), 346.65(2)(am)6, 343.31 Wis. Stats.; and two

driver's license until they reached the jail. Other than Wortman's statement, there is no apparent discussion on the record of what

-6-

counts of Misdemeanor Bail Jumping, contrary to section 946.49(1)(a), 939.51(3)(a) Wis. Stats. (R. 8:1-2). Wortman ultimately entered "not guilty" pleas to all four counts in the Information. (R. 71:4).

Suppression Motions

On April 19, 2012, Wortman filed, through counsel, a Motion to Suppress Statements (R. 13) and a Motion to Suppress Because of an Illegal Arrest. (R. 14). A hearing on these motions was held on September 7, 2012, and the court denied both motions (R. 72:40).

Wortman's attorney argued that interrogation became custodial when the suspect is under arrest. (R. 72:25). He argued that all statements made after custody was imposed, as well as any fruits of the arrest, should also be suppressed. (R. 72:25). Defense counsel argued that Wortman was in custody when Deputy Pfeiffer stopped his car in front of Wortman such that Wortman would have had to change his course to avoid the vehicle. (R. 72:25-26).

happened to Wortman's driver's license.

Wortman's attorney emphasized that one of the signs of arrest is the inability to leave freely, and pointed to the fact that Wortman was unable to get out of the back seat of the squad car, and therefore was in custody at that time (R. 72:26). The defense went on to argue that there was no probable cause for arrest at the point where Deputy Pfeiffer impeded Wortman's progress, and that therefore Wortman's statements to Deputy Pfeiffer were made while he was held improperly in custody and without Miranda warnings. (R. 72:26).

Defense counsel argued, in conclusion, that Wortman actually submitted to Deputy Pfeiffer's authority when his progress was initially impeded, and was therefore in custody from that point forward. (R. 72:31).

The district attorney argued that during the pre-arrest detention/investigation period, the deputy only needed a reasonable suspicion to act as he did. (R. 72:27). The district attorney pointed to various facts: the time, 8:00pm; the fair road conditions; a car in a ditch that appeared to have crossed the centerline and spun around; and a person walking away

with the odor of alcohol who admitted being the driver, in order to conclude that the deputy had sufficient reasonable suspicion to continue his investigation into whether a crime may have been committed or may be afoot. (R. 72:27). The district attorney argued that Wortman was not in cusody when Deputy Pfeiffer transported him back to the accident scene. (R. 72:27). It was a very short distance, and upon arrival, Wortman was released from the vehicle. (R. 72:27). Wortman was not in handcuffs, nor was he told he was under arrest. (R. 72:27). According to the district attorney, the officer continued the detention only to determine whether a crime was related to the accident. (R. 72:27). The district attorney pointed out that Deputy Pfeiffer asked some questions about drinking and concluded there was sufficient probable cause for arrest after conducting field sobriety tests. (R. 72:28).

The district attorney argued that statements should only be suppressed when they are the product of custodial interrogation, and that in this case Wortman seemed to have made a statement about drinking a "king can" of beer without instigation or interrogation-like questioning. (R. 72:28). According to the district attorney, the discussion between Wortman and the deputy continued, and when Deputy Pfeiffer stated that he would follow up on Wortman's statement he was only making a statement, but was not necessarily expecting a response. (R. 72:29). Wortman then told Deputy Pfeiffer that he had lied about when he consumed the beer. (R. 72:29).

The court considered the testimony received during the hearing, and concluded that there was probable cause to arrest Wortman for drunk driving. (R. 72:33). Judge English concluded that Wortman was not in custody when the officer pulled up, when he got in the back seat to return to the accident scene, or when they were standing at the accident scene. (R. 72:36). As a result of its analysis, the trial court found that Wortman was not in custody until he was actually placed under formal arrest for drunk driving, and that before the point of formal arrest, Miranda warnings were not needed. (R. 72:37). The judge specified that Wortman's statement regarding the king can of beer, made in the squad car after

arrest, was a comment made without prompting by the deputy. (R. 72:38). He went on to review relevant Wisconsin caselaw and concluded that it was a close call whether Wortman's statement was the result of specific questioning. (R. 72:39). In the end, the court decided that Deputy Pfeiffer was not expressly questioning Wortman and refused to suppress the statement. (R. 72:40).

Motion for Reconsideration

On September 17, 2012, Judge English heard Wortman's pro se motion for reconsideration of the court's denial of his suppression motions. (R. 73). At this time, Wortman asked the court to review the squad video and reconsider its decision on the prior suppression motions. (R. 73:2-3). The judge found that during the approximately ten minutes that Wortman was in the squad car, most of the conversation between Wortman and Deputy Pfeiffer was initiated by Wortman. (R. 73:4).

At the 17 minute mark in the video, Deputy Pfeiffer formally arrested Wortman. (R. 73:4). The court found that Wortman continued to make unsolicited statements after the

point of formal arrest. (R. 73:5). Ultimately, the court ruled that the State would not be allowed to introduce in its case in chief any answers that Wortman made in response to questions from Deupty Pfeiffer after he was arrested because the deputy had interrogated Wortman after the arrest but before Mirandizing him. (R. 73:5).

Finally, the court addressed Wortman's argument that he was in custody from the time that he got in the back of the squad car the first time, and concluded that the video does not support that argument. (R. 73:6).

Plea Hearing

On October 24, 2012, the date originally set for trial, Wortman entered a plea of no contest to Count 1 of the Information in case number 12-CF-90; Counts 2 and 3 were dismissed and read in, and Counts 4 was dismissed outright. (R. 74:2-3). Based on Wortman's plea questionnaire and colloquy with the court, Wortman was found guilty of operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated, ninth offense. (R. 74:15).

Sentencing Hearing

Judge English pronounced sentence on Wortman on January 23, 2013. (R. 75). At sentencing, the district attorney noted aggravating and mitigating factors, (R. 75:6-10), and concluded that a minimum consecutive sentence of three years of initial incarceration followed by three years of extended supervision was appropriate given that Wortman was also facing revocation of extended supervision in other cases. (R. 75:11).

Defense counsel also argued for a sentence of three years of initial incarceration followed by three years of extended supervision. (R. 75:11). Counsel raised mitigating circumstances, and Wortman offered an allocution, describing family and work issues that contributed to his situation. (R. 75:12-24).

The court considered sentencing factors, including Wortman's character and the need to protect the public. (R. 75:32-33). The court rejected the minimum sentence recommendation and sentenced Wortman to a maximum sentence of five years of initial confinement to be followed by

five years of extended supervision, consecutive to any other sentence and with conditions. (R. 75:34). Finally, the court granted 344 days of credit for time served and found Wortman ineligible for the Challenge Incarceration Program due to his age, but found him eligible for the Earned Release Program after serving three years of confinement. (R. 75:37). The court confirmed the fine of \$1,200.00. (R. 75:39-40), although the Amended Judgment of Conviction recites a fine of \$1,524.00 plus various costs. (App. 5:2; R. 47:2).

Postconviction Motions

After conviction, Wortman filed several pro se motions:

- On January 25, 2013, Wortman filed a
 Motion to Vacate Sentence and Withdrawal of No Contest
 Plea; and a Motion for Reconsideration of the fine imposed.
 (R. 39:1). All of these motions were denied. (R. 40).
- On March 2, 2013, Wortman filed a Motion to Modify the Financial Provisions of the Judgment of Conviction. (R. 46:3). The Judgment of Conviction was amended on March 7, 2013, to include the following: "DOC

shall withhold 25% of all inmate monies EARNED BY THE DEFENDANT to pay fines/costs/surcharges/restitution." (R. 47:1).

• On May 7, 2013, Wortman filed a motion for the court to find Wortman eligible for prison programming and to lift the Victim Witness Surcharge. (R. 48:1-3). The court denied the motion. (R. 48:1).

Appellate Case

On March 1, 2013, the appellate division of the Wisconsin State Public Defender appointed the undersigned attorney to represent Wortman in pursuing post-conviction relief. (App. A:OAC). Initially, the undersigned appellate counsel filed a no merit report, to which Wortman replied and the Court of Appeals identified two potential issues of arguable merit. (App. B: Order, COA, 11/9/15). First, the Court of Appeals raised two concerns regarding suppression of statements by Wortman, including the legality of his arrest; and second, the Court of Appeals raised the possibility of statutory inconsistency as it may be found in Wis. Stats. §346.65(2)(am). (Id.).

As a result of the Order from the Court of Appeals and through counsel, Wortman filed a Postconviction Motion, arguing that interpretation of the plain language of Wis. Stats. §346.65(2)(am) leads to the conclusion that Judge English sentenced Wortman erroneously. (R. 103; App. C). Judge English denied Wortman's postconviction motion. (R. 105; App. D). This appeal ensues.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a review of an order denying a motion to suppress evidence, the trial court's finding of evidentiary or historical fact will be given deference, but the appellate court will determine the question of constitutional fact independently. *State v. Luebeck*, 2006 WI App 87, ¶8, 715 N.W.2d 639, citing *State v. Griffith*, 2000 WI 72, ¶¶ 39, 41, 236 Wis.2d 48, ¶23, 613 N.W.2d 72.

Statutory interpretation offers a question of law that the appellate court will review de novo. *State v. Williams*, 2014 WI 54, 355 Wis.2d 581, 852 N.W.2d 467, 472 (Wis.,

2014), citing *State v. Henley*, 2010 WI 97, ¶ 29, 328 Wis.2d 544, 787 N.W.2d 350 (further citations omitted).

ARGUMENT

Introduction

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED WORTMAN'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE OBTAINED AFTER HE WAS ARRESTED ILLEGALLY.
 - A. Deputy Pfeiffer Arrested Wortman Illegally Because There Was No Probable Cause For The Arrest.

"The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized." U.S. Const. amend. IV; applied to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. U.S. Const. amend XIV.

When an arrest is challenged, the first consideration is whether there was probable cause for the officer to arrest the defendant.

"Probable cause is the quantum of evidence within the arresting officer's knowledge at the time of the arrest which would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that the defendant probably committed or was committing a crime. There must be more than a possibility or suspicion that the defendant committed an offense. ..." *State v. Secrist*, 224 WIs.2d 201, 208, 589 N.W.2d 387 (1999).

Further, probable cause requires consideration of all of the circumstances surrounding a situation. *State v. Kiper*, 193 Wis.2d 69, 82, 532 N.W.2d 621 (additional citations omitted).

Here, Wortman was simply walking along a roadside after a minor traffic situation in which his vehicle ended up in a ditch. He was not acting suspiciously, there was nothing to concern Deputy Pfeiffer other than the fact that Wortman was walking along the road. Deputy Pfeiffer did not observe the "accident," nor did he observe Wortman driving. No crime was afoot, and there was no reason for the officer to have any concern about Wortman. Wortman was not in any danger, nor was he endangering anyone else as he walked along the road. There was simply no reason for Deputy Pfeiffer to interfere in Wortman's affairs.

The State may argue that probable cause can be found because, at the time of the incident, it was evening, the roads were reasonably clear, and there was no apparent reason for Wortman's car to be in the ditch. However, those factors have no substance. Singly or in combination, they do not constitute anything that should create a reasonable suspicion that a crime had been or was going to be committed. Certainly those factors do not create an assumption of probable cause for an arrest.

Deputy Pfeiffer did not have probable cause to arrest Wortman, and therefore the arrest itself was illegal. In addition, because Wortman was in custody at this point in the incident, any statements he made must be suppressed because they were made prior to provision of Miranda warnings.

B. Deputy Pfeiffer Held Wortman In Custody From Their First Contact.

In *United States v. Mendenhall*, we learn that a person is "seized" when his freedom of movement is restrained. *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 553-554, 100 S.Ct. 1870, 64 L.Ed.2d 497. ("We conclude that a person has been "seized" within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment only if, in view of all of the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was

not free to leave."). When an officer retains possession of a person's driver's license or other documents, the stop is not consensual. *State v. Luebeck*, 715 N.W.2d 639, 645, 2006 WI App 87, citing *United States v. Lee*, 73 F.Ed 1034, 1040 (10th Cir. 1996). ("An encounter that begins with a valid traffic stop may not be deemed consensual unless the driver's documents have been returned."), (additional citations omitted).

In Wortman's situation there are several indicia of custody. First of all, Deputy Pfeiffer initiated the contact by turning his squad car around and pulling up in front of Wortman, thus blocking Wortman's forward progress, and questioning him. A reasonable person would have believed that he was obligated to remain and answer questions, and that he was not free to leave or continue walking. While he may have been able to physically leave, a reasonable person such as Wortman would have believed there would be serious consequences if he refused to cooperate with Deputy Pfeiffer. Wortman's freedom of movement was restricted by Deputy Pfeiffer's actions in blocking Wortman's progress.

A second indicia of custody is found when Deputy Pfeiffer invited Wortman into the back of his squad car to return to Wortman's vehicle. The doors to the back seat of a squad car cannot be opened from the inside. Thus, Wortman was unable to leave the squad car freely. This fact, combined with the nature of Deputy Pfeiffer's initial stop, lead to a fair conclusion that Wortman was in custody at this time.

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