RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **02-01-2017**

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT II

21811416111

Case No. 2016AP1144-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MICHEL L. WORTMAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A POSTCONVICTION MOTION, BOTH ENTERED IN THE FOND DU LAC COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DALE L. ENGLISH, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

SCOTT E. ROSENOW Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083736

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

Wortman argues that he is entitled to suppression of evidence from the traffic stop because Deputy Peiffer did not have probable cause to arrest him at the outset of their interaction. (Ward Br. 17–21.) He further argues that the circuit court imposed a fine in excess of the statutory maximum. (*Id.* at 21–24.)

5

³ The judgment of conviction and amended judgment of conviction state that the court imposed a \$1524 fine. (37:2; 47:2.)

Wortman is not entitled to any relief. He is not entitled to suppression for two reasons. First, Deputy Peiffer initiated at most an investigative stop when he made contact with Wortman; to do so, he merely needed reasonable suspicion, which he had. Second, even if Deputy Peiffer did not have reasonable suspicion, he lawfully detained Wortman because he was acting as a community caretaker. Further, the fine is within the statutory limit.

I. Wortman is not entitled to suppression because the deputy had reasonable suspicion to perform an investigative stop, rendering it lawful.

A. Controlling legal principles.

"The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I. Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect people from unreasonable searches and seizures." State v. Young, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 18, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729 (footnotes omitted). There are two types of seizures. Id. ¶ 20. "The first type, an investigatory or Terry stop,[5] usually involves only temporary questioning and thus constitutes only a minor infringement on personal liberty. An investigatory stop is constitutional if the police have reasonable suspicion that a crime has been committed, is being committed, or is about to be committed." Id. omitted). (footnote renumbered) (citation "Reasonable suspicion requires that a police officer possess specific and articulable facts that warrant a reasonable belief that criminal activity is afoot." *Id.* ¶ 21 (citation omitted).

⁴ The State assumes for the sake of argument that Deputy Peiffer seized Wortman by blocking his path while he was walking on the shoulder of the highway.

⁵ Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968).

"The second type of seizure, a full-blown arrest, is a more permanent detention that typically leads to 'a trip to the station house and prosecution for crime..." Id. ¶ 22 (ellipsis in Young) (quoting $Terry\ v$. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 16 (1968)). "An arrest is not constitutionally justified unless the police have probable cause to suspect that a crime had been committed." Id. (citation omitted).

A routine traffic stop is more analogous to a *Terry* stop than to a formal arrest. *State v. Iverson*, 2015 WI 101, ¶ 51, 365 Wis. 2d 302, 871 N.W.2d 661. Although "traffic stops may be justified by either probable cause or reasonable suspicion[,]" "reasonable suspicion that a traffic law has been or is being violated is sufficient to justify all traffic stops." *State v. Houghton*, 2015 WI 79, ¶¶ 29–30, 364 Wis. 2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143 (citation omitted).

"When determining if the standard of reasonable suspicion was met, those facts known to the officer at the time of the stop must be taken together with any rational inferences, and considered under the totality of the circumstances." *State v. Washington*, 2005 WI App 123, ¶ 16, 284 Wis. 2d 456, 700 N.W.2d 305 (citation omitted). A court must give deference to reasonable inferences drawn by police officers in light of their experience and training. *State v. Seibel*, 163 Wis. 2d 164, 183, 471 N.W.2d 226 (1991) (citing *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 27).

The State carries the burden of proving that a traffic stop was reasonable. State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 12, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. When determining whether a traffic stop was lawful, an appellate court upholds the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous, and it "review[s] independently the application of those facts to constitutional principles." Id. ¶ 8.

B. At most, the deputy's initial interaction with Wortman was an investigative stop, not an arrest.

"In Wisconsin, the test for whether a person has been arrested is whether a reasonable person in the defendant's position would have considered himself or herself to be in custody. given the degree of restraint under circumstances." State v. Blatterman, 2015 WI 46, ¶ 30, 362 Wis. 2d 138, 864 N.W.2d 26 (quotation marks and quoted source omitted). If police do not tell a person that he is under arrest, handcuff him, or read Miranda warnings to him, these omissions suggest that a traffic stop is not an arrest. State v. Swanson, 164 Wis. 2d 437, 448, 475 N.W.2d 148 (1991), abrogated on other grounds by State v. Sykes, 2005 WI 48, 279 Wis. 2d 742, 695 N.W.2d 277. Merely being asked to perform sobriety tests does not indicate that a traffic stop is an arrest, because the implication is that a person will be free to leave if he passes the tests. *Id*.

Further, police do not turn an investigative stop into an arrest by moving a suspect a short distance. *State v. Quartana*, 213 Wis. 2d 440, 448–51, 570 N.W.2d 618 (Ct. App. 1997). The defendant in *Quartana* drove his car into a ditch and walked to his parents' house about a mile away. *Id.* at 443–44. A police officer located Quartana, saw that he appeared intoxicated, and drove him to the accident scene so that a different officer who was waiting there could administer field sobriety tests. *Id.* at 444. On appeal, Quartana argued that the transportation amounted to an arrest. *Id.* at 449.

This Court "conclude[d] that a reasonable person in Quartana's position would not have believed he or she was under arrest. Quartana was not transported to a more institutional setting, such as a police station or interrogation

room." *Id.* at 450 (citations omitted). The police did not detain him for an unusually long time. *Id.* Further, an officer told Quartana that he was being detained temporarily for investigation and that he was being taken to his car, not a police station. *Id.* "At no time prior to taking the field sobriety test did any police officer communicate to Quartana, through either words or actions, that he was under arrest, or that the restraint of his liberty would be accompanied by some future interference with his freedom of movement." *Id.* at 450–51. This Court rejected the notion that "the fact that the officer kept Quartana's driver's license leads to a conclusion that an arrest has taken place." *Id.* at 449.

Here, similarly, a reasonable person in Wortman's situation would not have thought that he was under arrest when Deputy Peiffer first approached him or transported him to his truck. Deputy Peiffer stopped a squad car in front of Wortman on the shoulder of a highway, talked with him briefly about how his truck had ended up in a ditch, drove him for less than 40 seconds to his truck, checked his record for several minutes, and then had him perform field sobriety tests. (84:DVD at 0:20-16:40.) Right after Wortman failed the tests, Deputy Peiffer expressly placed him under arrest and handcuffed him. (84:DVD at 16:57–17:45.) investigative detention was not unusually long. Deputy Peiffer placed Wortman under arrest about 15 minutes after initiating contact with him. Further, Deputy Peiffer never read the *Miranda* warnings to Wortman and never said anything about an arrest until he formally placed Wortman under arrest. (72:16, 21–22.) Under these facts, a reasonable person would not have thought that he was under arrest until Deputy Peiffer formally arrested and handcuffed him.

Wortman argues that he was in custody because Deputy Peiffer blocked his path when he was walking along a highway, transported him to his truck, and did not immediately return his driver license. (Wortman Br. 20–21.) At most, Deputy Peiffer initiated a *Terry* stop by blocking Wortman's path and extended the stop by transporting Wortman to his truck. As explained below, those actions were lawful because they were based on reasonable suspicion. Further, under *Quartana*, Deputy Peiffer did not turn the *Terry* stop into an arrest by not immediately returning Wortman's driver license.

C. The deputy had reasonable suspicion to briefly detain Wortman for investigation.

A stop is constitutional and deemed investigatory if it is "temporary and last[s] no longer than is necessary to effect the purpose of the stop." *State v. Colstad*, 2003 WI App 25, ¶ 16, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394 (quotation marks and quoted source omitted). An officer may lawfully extend a traffic stop to pursue an OWI investigation if, during the course of the stop, he or she discovers facts that create reasonable suspicion that the suspect is intoxicated. *Id.* ¶ 19.

In *Colstad*, this Court concluded that a police officer had reasonable suspicion to stop Colstad's vehicle for inattentive driving in violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.89(1). Id. ¶ 14. The court reasoned that Colstad's vehicle had collided with a child who darted into the road, the road was straight, and nothing had obstructed Colstad's view. Id. The court further concluded that the officer had reasonable suspicion to extend the stop to administer field sobriety tests because the officer smelled a mild odor of alcohol and knew that the child had not run into the street "from behind an obstruction, such as a parked car." Id. ¶ 21. The court emphasized that the officer was not required to believe Colstad's assertion that the child had suddenly darted out in front of his vehicle. Id. Instead, the officer could reasonably

assume that Colstad had collided with the child due to intoxication. *Id*.

Here, similarly, Deputy Peiffer had reasonable suspicion to stop Wortman for inattentive driving. He reasonably concluded that the truck's driver had been inattentive. The road conditions were "good" and there was no snow on the road. (72:22.) Tracks in the ditch indicated that the truck had crossed the highway centerline, gone over a driveway, and ended up in the ditch. (72:5; see also 84:DVD at 2:46–2:49.) Further, Deputy Peiffer reasonably concluded that Wortman had been driving the truck. Deputy Peiffer reached the truck about two minutes after receiving a call about it. (72:5.) He saw Wortman about 100 yards away walking on the shoulder of the highway away from the truck. (72:5–6.) Video from Deputy Peiffer's squad car camera did not show anyone else walking along the highway before he made contact with Wortman. (84:DVD at 0:00-0:20.) Accordingly, if Deputy Peiffer seized Wortman by blocking his path, he acted lawfully because he had reasonable suspicion that Wortman had committed inattentive driving.

After briefly talking with Wortman, Deputy Peiffer reasonably extended the stop to investigate whether Wortman was intoxicated. Wortman indicated that he had driven his truck into a ditch because he had fallen asleep. (84:DVD at 1:05–1:09.) Deputy Peiffer was not required to believe that excuse. Further, Deputy Peiffer smelled alcohol on Wortman's breath and noticed that his eyes were "glassy." (72:8, 16–17.) These facts allowed Deputy Peiffer to continue his investigation, which he did by driving Wortman to the accident scene. (72:15–16, 23.) After they arrived at the accident scene, Wortman said that he had consumed a "king can" of beer from a Kwik Trip. (72:8, 18.) Deputy Peiffer learned that Wortman's driver license was revoked, he was on extended supervision, and he had eight prior OWI

convictions. (72:9, 17–18; see also 84:DVD at 9:41–9:45.) Deputy Peiffer knew that, as a result of those convictions, Wortman's BAC legal limit was 0.02. (72:9.) Prior OWI convictions are especially relevant in an OWI investigation when, as here, they reduce a suspect's BAC limit to 0.02. Blatterman, 362 Wis. 2d 138, ¶ 36. These facts allowed Deputy Peiffer to extend his investigation to administer field sobriety tests, which he did next. (72:9.) Deputy Peiffer arrested Wortman after he performed poorly on the tests. (72:9–10.) Deputy Peiffer lawfully extended the stop to investigate whether Wortman was intoxicated.

In sum, Deputy Peiffer's interaction with Wortman constituted a *Terry* stop until he formally arrested and handcuffed Wortman. Every portion of this *Terry* stop was based on reasonable suspicion and, therefore, was lawful.⁶

II. Alternatively, the deputy acted lawfully because he exercised a community caretaker function.

Even if Deputy Peiffer lacked reasonable suspicion to detain Wortman, he acted lawfully because he acted as a community caretaker.

A. Controlling legal principles.

"A community caretaker action is not an investigative *Terry* stop and thus does not have to be based on a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity." *State v*.

undeveloped *Miranda* argument. *See State v. Flynn*, 190 Wis. 2d 31, 58, 527 N.W.2d 343 (Ct. App. 1994).

⁶ Wortman alleges in passing that he is entitled to suppression under *Miranda*. (Wortman Br. 19.) A Fourth Amendment analysis and a *Miranda* analysis are not the same. *State v. Morgan*, 2002 WI App 124, ¶¶ 10–16, 254 Wis. 2d 602, 648 N.W.2d 23. This Court should decline to consider Wortman's

Ellenbecker, 159 Wis. 2d 91, 96, 464 N.W.2d 427 (Ct. App. 1990) (citation omitted). Similarly, an officer may perform a seizure without probable cause while acting as a community caretaker. Blatterman, 362 Wis. 2d 138, ¶ 39. "A law enforcement officer exercises a community caretaker function, rather than a law enforcement function, when an 'officer discovers a member of the public who is in need of assistance." Id. (quoting State v. Kramer, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 32, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598 (Kramer II)). The State has the burden of showing that an officer's conduct was a reasonable community caretaker function. Id. A court independently determines whether a seizure was lawful under the community caretaker doctrine. Id. ¶ 16.

When the State relies on the community caretaker doctrine to justify a seizure, a court must consider (1) whether a seizure occurred, (2) if so, whether the police conduct was a bona fide community caretaker function, and (3) if so, whether the public interest outweighs the intrusion on the individual's privacy. Id. ¶ 42.

Under the second prong, a court considers the totality of the circumstances as they existed at the time of the police conduct at issue. *Kramer II*, 315 Wis. 2d 414, \P 32.

[A] court may consider an officer's subjective intent in evaluating whether the officer was acting as a bona fide community caretaker; however, if the court concludes that the officer has articulated an objectively reasonable basis under the totality of the circumstances for the community caretaker function, he has met the standard of acting as a bona fide community caretaker....

Id. ¶ 36.

Under the third prong, a court considers several factors:

(1) the degree of the public interest and the exigency of the situation; (2) the attendant circumstances surrounding the seizure, including time, location, the degree of overt authority and force displayed; (3) whether an automobile is involved; and (4) the availability, feasibility and effectiveness of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished.

Id. \P 41 (quotation marks and quoted source omitted).

B. The deputy acted as a community caretaker.

Deputy Peiffer acted at a community caretaker when he made contact with Wortman.

Under the first prong of the community caretaker test, the State assumes for the sake of argument that Deputy Peiffer seized Wortman by blocking his path.

Under the second prong, Deputy Peiffer exercised a bona fide community caretaker function by making contact with Wortman. In *Kramer*, an officer exercised this function by stopping his vehicle behind Kramer's vehicle, which was parked on a highway shoulder after dark with its hazard flashers activated. *Kramer II*, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 37. Here, similarly, Deputy Peiffer had an objectively reasonable basis for making contact with Wortman. As explained above, Deputy Peiffer responded to a call about a truck in a ditch around 8:00 p.m. in February, saw Wortman walking away from the truck on the shoulder of a highway, and drove his squad car to Wortman. Further, Deputy Peiffer displayed a subjective concern for Wortman's well-being by asking him how his truck had ended up in the ditch and asking him whether he was hurt. (84:DVD at 1:05–1:12.)

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